| QUAWN M. FRANKLIN, |) | | |
|--------------------|---|------------------|--------|
| |) | | |
| |) | | |
| Appellant, |) | | |
| |) | | |
| VS. |) | CASE NUMBER SC04 | 4-1267 |
| |) | | |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, |) | | |
| |) | | |
| Appellee. |) | | |
| |) | | |

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (386) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal comprises twelve, consecutively-numbered volumes. Volumes one through five contain 820 consecutively numbered pages beginning with page one. Volumes six through eleven contain 1162 consecutively numbered pages beginning with page one. Additionally, the most recent supplemental record is numbered as volume twelve with consecutively numbered pages numbers beginning with page 821. Finally, a one volume supplemental record was filed previously. This volume contains 71 pages consecutively numbered beginning with page one.

Counsel will refer to each volume using a Roman numeral referencing the appropriate volume followed by an Arabic number indicating the appropriate page.

The supplemental record containing the evidence will be referred to as follows:

(SR I) with the appropriate page number inside the parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 1, 2002, a grand jury indicted Quawn Franklin, the appellant, charging him with one count of principal to murder in the first degree and one count of attempted armed robbery. (I 8-9) Specifically, the state charged appellant with the December 29, 2001, attempted armed robbery and murder of Jerry Lawley in Lake County, Florida.

Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions. These included: (1) Two separate motions challenging the constitutionality and continued viability of Florida's death sentencing scheme in light of *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) (II 250-69, 270-78); (2) Motion for statement of particulars as to aggravating circumstances as well as the theory of prosecution (II 279-86); (3) A motion to require a unanimous jury verdict at the penalty phase (II 287-90); (4) A motion to declare Florida's death penalty statute unconstitutional based on the failure of the statutory aggravating factors to genuinely limit the class of persons subject to the ultimate sanction (II 291-343); (5) A motion challenging the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty based on a violation of his constitutional right to freedom of speech (II 344-51); (6) A motion seeking modification of Florida's standard jury instructions based on *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) and *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985) (II 352-54); (7) A motion challenging the

constitutionality of Florida's statute which allows the use of hearsay evidence in the penalty phase (II 355-59); (8) A motion attacking the constitutionality relating to the felony-murder aggravating circumstance (II 360-67); (9) A motion challenging the "heightened premeditation" aggravating factor (II 367-404); (10) A motion challenging the statute based on the improper burdens of proof or persuasion as they relate to the consideration of mitigating evidence (III 405-12); (11) A motion attacking the constitutionality of the statute, both facially and as applied, with respect to the "prior violent felony" aggravating factor and the respective jury instructions (III 447-53); (12) A motion challenging constitutionality of the "pecuniary gain" aggravating circumstance and the corresponding jury instructions (III 454-59); (13) Several pretrial motions in an attempt to prevent prosecutorial argument and misconduct (III 473-95); (14) A motion attempting to prohibit the prosecution from challenging potential jurors who have reservations about capital punishment but could be objective during the guilt phase (III 516-20); (15) A motion attacking the constitutionality of allowing the introduction of "victim impact evidence"; (16) In the alternative, appellant requested a proffer of the evidence prior to its introduction (III 549-56); (17) Appellant also sought to limit the introduction of victim impact evidence to the trial court alone (III 574-81); (18) Appellant also sought to limit victim impact

evidence in other ways (III 582-86); (19) Appellant also sought to videotape victim impact testimony (III 587-88); and (20) A separate motion to exclude evidence or argument designed to create sympathy for the deceased (III 557-73).

Prior to trial, appellant filed a motion requesting a special verdict form indicating whether the jury found the appellant guilty of premeditated or felony murder. (IV 593-96)

During appellant's guilt phase, the trial court overruled appellant's objections and allowed into evidence portions of Franklin's interview with a newspaper reporter. Although portions of the interview were redacted pursuant to a pretrial hearing, objectionable portions remained. (IX 675-91; XII 826-36)

Also at the guilt phase, the trial court overruled appellant's objections and allowed a witness and a police officer to testify about statements made by the victim after he was shot, but before he died. (VIII 501-505, 512)

Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase evidence, defense counsel offered to stipulate to the aggravating circumstance relating to prior violent felony convictions. This offer was a failed attempt to prevent testimony regarding details of appellant's prior convictions. (X 891-93) Appellant repeatedly renewed his objection during the presentation of this portion of the evidence at the penalty phase. (X 912-13, 917-19, 922-25, 934-35, 944-45)

Appellant had additional objections to the testimony of a detective about Alice Johnson injuries. Alice Johnson was the victim of Quawn Franklin's armed burglary which was used as a prior violent felony in aggravation. Over a timely hearsay objection, a detective testified that he learned from a doctor at the hospital that pieces of Johnson's skull had been broken and had ended up inside her brain. (X 947-48) Appellant also unsuccessfully attempted to exclude victim impact evidence at his penalty phase. (III 549-88; X 969-86)

At the conclusion of the guilt phase, the jury returned verdicts finding appellant guilty as charged of first-degree murder and attempted armed robbery with a firearm. (IV 692-93)

At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury returned a unanimous recommendation that the trial court sentence Quawn Franklin to death. (IV 702) The jury indicated that they unanimously agreed that all four aggravating factors were present. (IV 701)

Appellant submitted a memorandum in support of a life sentence. (IV 733-48) The state submitted a memorandum urging death. (IV 749-56)

On June 3, 2004, the trial court sentenced Quawn Franklin to death. In doing so, the trial court entered written findings of fact regarding the aggravating and mitigating factors. In aggravation, the trial court found that: (1) the murder

was committed while Franklin was serving a prison sentence, specifically that he was on conditional release; (2) that Franklin had previously been convicted of several felonies involving the use or threat of violence to another, as well as one prior capital felony; (3) that the murder was motivated by pecuniary gain; (4) that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (IV 760-65)

The trial court rejected appellant's age as a mitigating factor. (IV 765) The trial court did find numerous nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. Specifically, (1) Quawn Franklin suffered from deficiencies in his upbringing, especially those relating to the forced removal from the only mother and father he had known during his eight years on this earth [some weight] (IV 765-67); (2) at a very young age, Quawn Franklin was sentenced to an adult prison where he served more than eight years of a ten year sentence, a rather harsh sanction even considering his prior juvenile record [little weight](IV 767); (3) Quawn Franklin was cooperative with law enforcement after his arrest [some weight](IV 768); (4) Quawn took responsibility for his crimes and confessed to the police and to the newspaper [some weight](IV 768); (5) Franklin offered to plead guilty in return for a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole, consecutive to the life sentences he was already serving [little weight] (IV 768); (6) Franklin apologized to the

victim's family, showed remorse, and confessed to other offenses used as aggravating circumstances [some weight]; (7) Franklin apologized and showed remorse for other crimes he committed [little weight]; (8) Franklin entered pleas in related cases and was sentenced to life in prison [some weight]; (9) the trial court also considered it pitiful and distressing that no one was available to testify on behalf of Quawn Franklin at his penalty phase [some weight]; and (10) Pamela McCoy, Franklin's co-defendant, received a thirty five-year prison sentence for her role in these crimes [little weight]. (IV 765-69) The trial court considered the four aggravating circumstances as well as a number of nonstatutory mitigators of which he was reasonably convinced, gave the jury's recommendation great weight, and concluded that Quawn Franklin should die for his crimes. (IV 770-71) The trial court also sentenced Franklin to a consecutive life sentence for the attempted armed robbery. (IV 779)

On June 18, 2004, appellant filed a notice of appeal. (IV 783) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

Near the end of December, 2001, Quawn Franklin, the appellant, Antwana Butler, her cousin, Adrian, and Pamela McCoy drove from Leesburg, their home, to St. Petersburg for a short stay. While there, the foursome visited various members of Franklin's family. (IX 642-645)

After a short stay² in St. Petersburg, Butler and Adrian asked Franklin to drive them back to Leesburg.³ Every one of the group complained that they had no money.⁴ Franklin had to borrow ten dollars from a relative to buy gas for the return trip.⁵ (IX 651-52) It was after midnight when they left St. Petersburg. During the return trip, Franklin showed off a chrome revolver that he had obtained from a relative in St. Petersburg. (IX 649-51)

That same night, during the early morning hours of Saturday, December 29, 2001, Jerry Lawley was working his usual shift as a night watchman at the Elberta Crate and Box Factory in Leesburg. Lawley sat in his parked car, getting out to walk his rounds every hour. (VIII 495-500)

Sutler could not remember if the group spent the night. (IX 645) sutler and Adrian complained that they had no money to buy food. (IX 646-47) hey were broke and hungry.

ranklin was none too happy that he had to drive his friends all the way back to Leesburg.

At approximately 5:00 a.m., Franklin, McCoy, and the two Butlers arrived in Leesburg. Franklin, who was driving, stopped at the Elberta Crate and Box Factory and pulled up next to Jerry Lawley's car. (VIII 510-11, IX 651-56)
Franklin asked Lawley for directions during a brief conversation. Franklin then drove to the McCove Apartments where he dropped off the two Butlers. (IX 656-57) According to Adrian Butler, Franklin announced that he intended to go back and "get" the security guard. (IX 657) The group was looking for somebody to rob when they happened upon Mr. Lawley. Using his revolver, Franklin ordered Lawley out of the car. Lawley got out and laid down on the ground. Franklin went through Lawley's pockets but found nothing. Franklin then shot Lawley once because he, "wanted to." (VIII 579-81)

After Jerry Lawley, he sought help from a truck driver who had arrived and parked at the factory earlier that evening. Lawley told Ellis that he had been shot by a tall black guy wearing a hat. Lawley told Ellis that the man tried to rob him. (VIII 495-506) Ellis called 911 and Officer Iozzi responded to the scene. Lawley answered Iozzi's questions about his assailant. Lawley described the suspect as a thin, black male, slightly over six-feet tall, wearing a knit cap, and driving a newer-

ranklin provided details of the crime to police following his subsequent arrest in St. Petersburg. (VIII 562, 589-91)

model, blue, four-door car. (VIII 507-17)

Jerry Lawley suffered a fatal gunshot wound. The bullet entered his left back and exited through the left upper aspect of his abdomen. (IX 695-700) The medical examiner opined that her autopsy findings were consistent with Lawley kneeling down facing towards a wall 116 inches in front of the victim. (IX 702-3) However, the medical examiner admitted that this was one of many possibilities. The variables relating to the victim's position, position of the shooter, and other factors would make a difference in determining exactly how the shooting occurred. (IX 703-6)

The police arrested Quawn Franklin in St. Petersburg the following day.

Detective Gary Gibson and Detective Dente of the St. Petersburg police
department conducted an interview. (VIII 562-65) After waiving his constitutional
rights, Quawn Franklin told the detectives that the group was looking for someone
to rob. (VIII 579) Franklin ordered Lawley out of his car at gunpoint. (VIII 580)

Lawley got out and lay down on the ground. Franklin went through Lawley's
pockets but found nothing. (VIII 580-81) Franklin then explained that he shot

Lawley because, "I didn't have no other choice. ...What I did, I wanted to do it at
the time. (VIII 581) Franklin and his three confederates also searched Lawley's
car for anything of value but found nothing. They decided not to take Lawley's

automobile. (VIII 584-86)

Franklin told the St. Petersburg police that the other three people were with him in the car when he shot Lawley. (VIII 584-85) They planned to split the money four ways. (VIII 585) Franklin wore gloves to avoid leaving fingerprints. (VIII 583-84)

While he was incarcerated in the Lake County Jail, appellant called a newspaper reporter who subsequently came to the jail to interview Franklin. (IX 669-74) Mark Mathews, the newspaper reporter, recorded the interview with the appellant. (IX 673-75)

During the taped interview, Franklin explained that he was confessing to the murder of the security guard. "I'm tired of life, man. I'm tired of being treated like an animal." (IX 680) Franklin described how the four of them had been in St. Petersburg and were low on funds. Franklin obtained a handgun and an assault rifle from "a source." (IX 686-87) The group went back to Leesburg and parked next to the security guard who remained seated in his car. The pair engaged in a conversation before Franklin's group drove away. Franklin dropped off Adrian and Blue, but he and Pamela returned to rob the security guard. Pamela made the guard get out of his car at gunpoint. Franklin attempted to steal the guard's Toyota Camry. However, he had difficulty starting it and getting it in gear. The pair

subsequently left in their own car. (IX 680-90) Before they left, Franklin took the gun from Pamela and shot the security guard. (IX 689-90)

Penalty Phase

A. Evidence and Testimony Relating to Franklin's Prior Violent Felony Convictions.

(1) When He Was Sixteen, Franklin Tried to Rob a Man.

On July 7, 1993, Clarence Martin was working for the St. Petersburg Times. He delivered newspapers and serviced various accounts. He was working his usual shift of midnight to dawn that day. At approximately 1:00 a.m., Martin was in downtown St. Petersburg, filling newspaper vending boxes with the latest edition. (X 900-902) As he was going about his job, Martin noticed two boys, one black and one white, walking in his general direction on the other side of the street. A few minutes later, the young black male, a sixteen-year-old Quawn Franklin, lifted his shirt and pulled out what appeared to be a small caliber automatic handgun. (X 902) It was in fact a toy cap gun. (X 910) He instructed Martin to turn around and to give him the money.

Martin complained that he had not had a chance to collect any money yet.

Franklin told Martin to give him what he had in his pocket. Martin had a fanny pack which contained quarters used to open the newspaper boxes. He took it off

and dumped the quarters inside all over the ground. Franklin removed Martin's wallet from Martin's back pocket. Franklin retrieved the cash in the wallet as the other boy picked up all of the coins from the ground. (X 903-904) Franklin then instructed Martin to get down on his knees. Before doing so, Martin retrieved the butterfly knife from the fannie pack. Martin then turned and stabbed Franklin in the stomach. Franklin went all the way down to the ground exclaiming his surprise and dismay. Martin jumped on top of Franklin. With the other boy's help, Franklin was able to escape Martin's grasp.

Martin's assailants ran down the street and out of view. (X 903-906) Martin hailed a police officer. Shortly thereafter, police found a severely wounded Franklin and arrested him. Martin identified Franklin at the scene. (X 906) Franklin subsequently pleaded guilty to robbery and was sentenced to ten years in prison. (X 907-8; SR I 53-58)

(2) The December, 2001, Armed Burglary of Alice Johnson's House.

Alice Johnson, a seventy-eight-year-old woman, testified from her wheelchair at the penalty phase. (X 925-26, 934) Johnson was a retired school teacher who had returned to her hometown of Leesburg following retirement. (X 926-27) In late December, 2001, Johnson was living in the Leesburg home that her family had built back in the 1930s. (X 926-27) On a Thursday night, Johnson was

watching a favorite television show, when Quawn Franklin and a young woman knocked on her door asking for directions. (X 927-28) Johnson explained that she could not give directions and the couple left. (X 928) A few minutes later, Franklin and the woman returned to Johnson's front door. Johnson answered the door and walked out on her porch. The couple asked for directions again. Johnson again explained that she could not give directions. (X 929) At that point, Franklin hit Johnson in the head with "a hammer or something." (X 929) Johnson believed that she might have been hit a second time. She walked back into her house. Franklin and the young woman followed. (X 929-30) From that point on, Johnson had no memory of that night's events. (X 930) Franklin and his companion stole Johnson's 2000 Toyota Camary that night. (X 931)

The blunt trauma that Mrs. Johnson sustained from the attack was severe. Her doctor's main concern was the fact that pieces of her skull had broken off and ended up inside her brain. (X 948) Prior to the home invasion, Johnson was quite active. She volunteered at the food bank, for the Hospice board for Lake and Sumter counties, and she was also on the planning and zoning board for the city of Leesburg. (X 930) Johnson also assisted in registering local African Americans to vote. (X 930-31) Johnson was unable to continue these activities after the attack. (X 931) She was also unable to remain living at the family home. (X 931)

Franklin ultimately pleaded guilty to burglary, robbery with a deadly weapon, and attempted felony murder. (SR I 38-52) After pleading guilty, the trial court sentenced Franklin to life imprisonment. Quawn Franklin told Alice Johnson that he regretted his crimes and apologized to her. Franklin recognized that no apology would be sufficient. He prayed that Alice Johnson's life would get better. (X 932-34)

(3) The December, 2001, Murder of John Horan.

In December, 2001, Papa Johns received an order for a pizza delivery. John Horan attempted to deliver the pizzas to the Carver Heights area. When he left his vehicle to deliver the pies, he was ambushed by Quawn Franklin. Franklin bound Horan with duct tape and placed him in the back of Horan's car. He was then driven a short way to Talley Box Road. Franklin removed Horan from the car. Horan attempted to run, but was shot in the back and killed. (X 942-43) Prior to being shot, Horan begged for his life. (X 943) Franklin pleaded guilty to first-degree murder, kidnapping, and armed robbery. The court sentenced him to three concurrent life sentences. (SR I 61-69)

B. Quawn Franklin was on Conditional Release at the Time of the Capital Murder.

On September 20, 1993, Quawn Franklin was barely sixteen years old when he was sentenced to a period of ten years of incarceration in an adult prison.

Franklin served eight years in prison before leaving prison on October 1, 2001 when he started his conditional release. (X 967-68)

Saundra Ware, a probation and parole employee with the Department of Corrections supervised appellant while he was on conditional release. She met with him on October 8, 2001. Ware verified appellant's residence in Leesburg, Florida. (X 964) Franklin reported to Ware's office on November 13, 2001. (X 964) After that appointment, Ware left the office on medical leave and another officer was responsible for supervising Franklin. (X 964-65) Franklin was scheduled to complete his conditional release on July 9, 2003. (X 965) On conditional release, his status was still considered to be under his prison sentence. (X 965) On conditional release, Franklin was expected to comply with certain conditions. One of the conditions required that he maintain employment. Franklin did in fact maintain a job at Kentucky Fried Chicken in Leesburg. (X 965-66) Appellant's Co-Defendant's Penalty Phase Testimony.

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