### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

QUAWN M. FRANKLIN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC04-1267 Lower Tribunal No. 02-217-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 14087 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In his first issue on appeal, Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in admitting hearsay evidence in the penalty phase in violation of his constitutional right to confront witnesses against him. Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appellate review based on his failure to make the proper objection below. Even if preserved, the State questions whether the evidence was an out-of-court "testimonial" statement admitted in violation of <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Additionally, even if this Court finds that the evidence was improperly admitted, the evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial judge acted within his discretion in admitting statements Appellant made to a newspaper reporter during an interview. Appellant told the reporter that he fled Leesburg after seeing a helicopter searching for him and that he was tired of living and being persecuted by people. Appellant asserts that the evidence concerning the helicopter was improperly admitted because it could allow the jury to speculate that Appellant's car was stolen or had been involved in other crimes. To the contrary, the jury knew that Appellant committed a murder in the early morning hours and law enforcement had a description of his car. Thus, there was no need to speculate

about his car given the facts. Furthermore, the evidence regarding Appellant's feelings was not improperly admitted because it was relevant to his reasons for calling a newspaper reporter and confessing his crimes. Finally, even if the evidence was improperly admitted, the error was harmless.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in admitting hearsay statements made by the victim to a friend and responding police officer immediately after he was shot. Appellant's argument that the hearsay violated his constitutional right to confront witnesses against him was not preserved for appellate review by proper objection. Furthermore, Appellant forfeited any confrontation rights by killing the victim and ensuring his unavailability at trial. Finally, the statements made by the victim were excited utterances that were not testimonial. As such the admission of the statements did not violate the holding of Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004).

The trial judge properly refused Appellant's offer to stipulate to the aggravating circumstance of prior felony convictions. The State is entitled to present evidence of the prior offenses to allow the jury to make an informed recommendation of the appropriate sentence.

The court properly allowed the State to present victim impact evidence at the penalty phase. The brief evidence from

three witnesses was limited to the type of evidence specifically allowed under Florida Statutes, section 921.141(7).

The trial judge properly found that the murder of Jerry Lawley was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without the pretense of legal or moral justification. Appellant planned the murder by procuring a firearm in advance and searching for a vulnerable victim. Once he found the victim working in an isolated area, Appellant donned a pair of gloves to avoid leaving fingerprints and ordered the victim out of his car at gunpoint. Appellant told the victim that "this is going to hurt, but only for a minute," and as the victim was kneeling to the ground and begging for his life, Appellant coldly shot him in the back because Appellant "wanted to." This murder was not done in an act of emotional frenzy, but was a killing carried out as a matter of course.

Additionally, the trial judge properly found that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. Appellant attempted to rob the victim of his money and car because Appellant was out of money and almost out of gas in the stolen car he had been using for the last day or two. Clearly, a motive for the murder was financial gain.

Lastly, Appellant's argument that Florida's death penalty statutory scheme is unconstitutional under <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536

U.S. 584 (2002), is without merit and has been repeatedly rejected by this Court.

### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY ISSUE REGARDING THE ADMISSION OF HEARSAY EVIDENCE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT VIOLATED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES AGAINST HIM.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in allowing hearsay evidence during the penalty phase because it violated his constitutional right to confront witnesses. Specifically, Appellant complains that the trial judge erred in overruling his objection during the testimony of Leesburg Police Department Detective Frank Hitchcock. The prosecutor asked the detective if he knew about the injuries sustained by an elderly victim, Alice Johnson, after Appellant repeatedly struck her in the head with a hammer. Defense counsel objected to the question on the grounds that the detective was not qualified to describe the victim's injuries: "Your Honor, I'm going to object. The detective is not a doctor, a physician." (V10: T.947). Defense counsel never objected to the detective's testimony on hearsay grounds and did not argue that the detective's testimony would violate Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses. Thus, the State submits that Appellant has failed to preserve the instant issue for appellate review.

During Detective Frank Hitchcock's penalty phase testimony,

the prosecuting attorney asked the witness about his investigation into one of Appellant's prior felony offenses:

Q. While that's being accomplished, Sergeant Hitchcock, can you tell us a little bit about the extent of the injuries that Ms. Johnson suffered as a result of being struck repeatedly with this hammer?

MR. NACKE [Defense counsel]: Your Honor, I'm going to object. The detective is not a doctor, a physician.

MR. GROSS [Prosecutor]: He certainly in a sentencing proceeding is entitled to tell us what the extent of the victim's injuries are.

THE COURT: Overruled, Mr. Nacke. Go ahead. BY MR. GROSS:

Q. What was the extent of her injuries as a result of the blunt trauma to her head?

A. In speaking with a doctor at the hospital, he told me that his main concern was the fact that pieces of her skull had been broken off and ended up down inside of her brain.

(V10: Т.947-48). Defense counsel's objection to the prosecutor's question was specifically directed at the witness' qualification to answer the question regarding the victim's injuries: "The detective is not a doctor, a physician." Because defense counsel did not object when the detective testified to the information he obtained from a doctor at the hospital, and did not argue to the trial court that his constitutional right to confront witnesses had been violated based on the admission of this evidence, the instant issue has not been preserved for appellate review.

The law is well settled that in order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation. Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Appellant argues on appeal that the trial court erred in admitting Detective Hitchcock's testimony because it violated his constitutional confrontation rights as recently interpreted by the United States Supreme Court in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Because Appellant did not timely present this argument to the trial judge below, the State submits that the issue has not been preserved for appeal.<sup>12</sup> See Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d 169, 180-81 (Fla. 2003) (finding defendant's argument was not preserved for appeal when he presented a different argument to the trial court); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 905-06 (Fla. 1990) (stating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Admittedly, *prior* to trial, Appellant filed a motion seeking to bar the State from using hearsay evidence at the penalty allowed by Florida Statutes, section 921.141(1). phase as Appellant also moved to have the statute declared unconstitutional because it violated his constitutional right to The trial court denied the motion. confront witnesses. (V2: R.355-59; V6: R.31-32). The filing of this pre-trial motion has not preserved the instant issue for appellate review. See generally Lawrence v. State, 614 So. 2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1993) (the contemporaneous objection rule applies to evidence about other crimes, and even if a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time the collateral crime evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review).

that claim was not preserved for review where defense counsel failed to object on specific grounds advanced on appeal); <u>Bertolotti v. Dugger</u>, 514 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1987); <u>Steinhorst</u>, <u>supra; Mencos v. State</u>, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D1738 (Fla. 4th DCA July 20, 2005) (holding that defendant's hearsay objection did not preserve argument on appeal that hearsay violated his right to confrontation).

If this Court addresses the issue preserved for review, the State submits that the trial court acted within its discretion in denying defense counsel's objection relating to the detective's qualifications to express an opinion on the victim's injuries. This Court has previously stated that the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000).

In this case, the court acted within its discretion in overruling defense counsel's objection to the question posed to Detective Hitchcock regarding the victim's injuries. The prosecuting attorney asked the detective to tell the jury about the extent of the victim's injuries based on Appellant's act of repeatedly hitting her in the head with a hammer. A detective

who apparently had some knowledge of the crime<sup>13</sup> could properly offer his opinion of the injuries that he may have observed. In Floyd v. State, 569 So. 2d 1225, 1231-32 (Fla. 1990), this Court held that law enforcement officers' testimony regarding their opinions of the crime scene and the victim's injuries were admissible lay witness opinion testimony under Florida Statutes, "within section 90.701, because the testimony was the permissible range of lay observation and ordinary police experience." Likewise, the trial court properly overruled defense counsel's qualification objection because the detective could have given his opinion of the victim's injuries based on his observations and experience. Admittedly, however, the detective did not respond to the prosecutor's question with an answer based on his own observations of the victim's injuries,

<sup>13</sup> Appellant asserts in his brief that the detective was investigating the crime and obtaining statements in order to The record does not support such an utilize them in court. assertion. Detective Hitchcock testified that he was intimately involved with the Horan murder investigation, but based on his answers to other questions, it appears that he did not have much knowledge of the Alice Johnson case. (V10: T.942). Detective Hitchcock testified that he "believed" the first person to find the victim was her brother. (V10: T.944). When shown a crime scene photograph with the victim covered by a towel or blanket, the detective did not know who placed the item on the victim. (V10:T.944). Contrary to Appellant's assertion, there is simply no indication in the present record that the detective was "investigating" the Alice Johnson case when a doctor spoke to him at the hospital.

but instead relayed information to the jury based on his conversation with a doctor at the hospital.

In Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004),<sup>14</sup> the United States Supreme Court found that the admission of "testimonial" hearsay statements pursuant to the "adequate indicia of reliability" test espoused in Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), violated the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The Roberts Court had allowed hearsay evidence in a criminal trial, even absent the opportunity for the defense to cross-examine the witness, if the declarant was unavailable, and if the evidence either fell within one of the "firmly rooted hearsay exceptions," or was otherwise have "particularized quarantees shown to of trustworthiness." Roberts, 448 U.S. at 66-74. The Crawford Court held, however, that the Confrontation Clause excludes from evidence any out-of-court "testimonial" statements unless, first, the witness is unavailable, and second, the defense is provided with a prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. The Crawford Court did not set forth a comprehensive definition of "testimonial," finding only that "it applies at a minimum to prior testimony at a preliminary hearing, before a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The <u>Crawford</u> opinion was issued on March 8, 2004, and Appellant's trial took place on April 19-23, 2004.

grand jury, or at a former trial; and to police interrogations." 541 U.S. at 68.

Appellant asserts that Detective Hitchcock's investigation of the crime lead to him obtaining information from a hospital doctor, and as such, was testimonial in nature. The State questions whether the evidence was testimonial. Although the Crawford Court left the definition of "testimonial" for another day, the Court did identify three kinds of statements that could be properly regarded as testimonial statements: (1) "'ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent -- that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations, prior testimony . . . or similar pretrial statements that declarants prosecutorially'"; would reasonably expect to be used (2) "'extrajudicial statements . . . contained in formalized testimonial material such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions'"; and (3) "'statements that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial.'" Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51-52 (citations omitted). Clearly, statements taken by police officers during a formal interrogation are testimonial, id. at 52-53, but as noted in footnote 12, supra, it is unclear whether the detective was actually investigating the case when he spoke with a doctor at

the hospital. Perhaps, had defense counsel raised an objection on confrontation grounds, the parties could have made a better record on this point. <u>See Mencos v. State</u>, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D1738 (Fla. 4th DCA July 20, 2005) (stating that "[a]n objection specifically based on <u>Crawford</u> serves to focus the trial court's attention on the salient inquiry required by that decision, i.e., whether the evidence is 'testimonial,' whether the witness is 'unavailable,' and whether there was a 'prior opportunity for cross-examination.'"). Furthermore, this was clearly not an "interrogation," as discussed in <u>Crawford</u>. <u>See Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 53 n.4.

There is nothing in the record to indicate that the doctor's statement to Detective Hitchcock was made in response to a question from the detective. The statement may have been made after contact initiated by the doctor, or it may have simply been a spontaneous statement by the doctor. Applying the three formulations discussed in <u>Crawford</u>, it is doubtful that the doctor's statement was testimonial. There is no indication in the record that the declarant's statement was "a pre-trial statement that [the] declarant would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially." <u>Id.</u> at 51-52. The statement clearly does not fall within the second category of extrajudicial statements contained in "formalized testimonial materials."

Finally, there is no indication that the doctor's statement was made "under circumstances which would lead an objective witness to reasonably believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also Lopez v. State</u>, 888 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (applying <u>Crawford</u>'s three formulations in an attempt to determine whether a declarant's statement to a law enforcement officer was testimonial). Because the record is unclear whether the doctor's statement was testimonial, this Court should find that Appellant has failed to show any error.

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